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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

COVINGTON DIVISION 

SEAN P. DONELAN, 

Plaintiff, Civil Action No. ------
Electronically Filed 

v. 

CITY OF HIGHLAND HEIGHTS, Jury Trial Demanded 

Defendant. . 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff, Sean P. Donelan ("Donelan"), by the undersigned attorneys, makes the 

following averments: 

1. This civil action is brought pursuant to the UliifOlmed Services Employment and 

Reemployment Rights Act of 1994,38 U.S.C. §§ 4301 - 4333 ("USERRA"). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 

38 U.S.C. § 4323(b). 

3. Venue is proper in this district under 38 U.S.C. § 4323(c)(2) and 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1391(b) because Defendant, City of Highland Heights ("City"), exercises authority and carries 

out its municipal functions in this judicial district. 

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Donelan resides in Kenton County, Kentucky, within the jurisdiction of 

this Court. 

5. The City of Highland Heights, KentUcky, is a municipality within the jurisdiction 
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of this Court (Campbell County, Kentucky). 

CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

6. On June 18,2001, Donelan begari full-time employment as a patrol officer for the 

City of Highland Heights Police Department ("HHPD"). 

7. In August 2004, Donelan enlisted in the United States Air Force ,Reserve, and on 

August 19,2004, he submitted a memorandum to Chief Carl Mullen of the HHPD requesting a 

leave of absence to complete military service. 

8. Donelan received written orders to report for Initial Active Duty Training 

("IADT") for the U.S. Air Force Reserve from September 20,2004, until January 4,2005. 

'Donelan provided notice and copies of his written orders to HHPD. 

9. From the time Donelan informed Chief Mullen that he was considering joining 

the U.S. Air Force Reserve to start his IADT service, Chief Mullen made hostile remarks about 

Donelan's military service. 

10. Dming Donelan's employment with the HHPD, Chief Mullen made hostile 

remarks about the military service of another HHPD former employee. 

11. Between the time Donelan informed Chief Mullen that he joined the U.S. Air 

Force Reserve and the start of his IADT service, Chief Mullen exhibited hostility toward 

Donelan's imminent military service; 

. 12. Donelan completed his IADT and returned to work on or about JanualY 1,2005, 

after completing one hundred and three (103) days ofmilitmy service. 

13. Even though there is a Highland Heights City Ordinance which provides for 

differential pay between a police officer's City wage and militalY salary, Chief Mullen infOlmed 

Donelan that he would not be receiving the differential pay, and Donelan has never received this 
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pay, 

14, After Donelan returned from IADT, Chief Mullen changed Donelan's work 

sc4-e-dule to a less desirable one than he had before his IADT. 

15. After Donelan returned from IADT, he'was subjected to disparate treatment in 

terms of a work assignment. 

16. Donelan reported for two weekend Reserve drills while he worked for the City 

- one in January 2005 and one in February 2005. He provided written notice to Chief Mullen of 

his Reserve drill dates. 

17. Two (2) days after Donelan returned fi.'om his February Reserve drill and thirty-

eight (38) days after,he returned from IADT, Chief Mullen gave Donelan a memorandum, signed 

by the City's Mayor, terminating Donelan's employment, effective February 8, 2005. 

18. The City violated Section 4311 ofUSERRA, among other ways, by 

discriminating against Donelan and denying him benefits of employment and retention in 

employment because of his membership in, performance of service in, obligation to perform 

service in, or application to perform service in the United States of America's uniformed 

services, 

19, The City violated Section 4316 ofUSERRA by discharging Donelan without 

cause on February 8, 2005, less.than 180 days after his January 1, 2005 reemployment with the 

City. 

20. The City's violations ofUSERRA were willful. 

21. As a result of the City's unlawful discrimination against Donelan and his 

discharge, Donelan has suffered substantial loss of earnings and other benefits of employment. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
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WHEREFORE, Donelan prays that the Court enter judgment against the City of 

Highland Heights as follows: 

22. Declare that the City's.denial of benefits of employment and retention in 

employment were unlawful and in violation ofUSERRA; 

23. Declare that the City's discharge of Donelan without cause was unlawful and in 

violation ofUSERRA; 

24. Order that the City fully comply with USERRA by reinstating Donelan at the 

level of seniority, statUs and compensation that he enjoyed at the time of his discharge; or 

provide appropriate front pay; 

25. Order that the City pay appropriate backpay, including but not limited to full 

pension benefits, and the differential military pay that the City didnot pay Donelan during active 

duty; 

26. Find that the City's violations ofUSERRAwere willful; 

27. Order that the City pay Donelan as liquidated damages an amount equal to the 

amount of his lost compensation and other benefits suffered by reason of the City's willful 

violations ofUSERRA; 

28. Enjoin the City fi:om taking any action against Donelan that fails to COlllply with 

the provisions of USERRA; 

29. Award Donelan prejudgment interest on the amount of lost compensation found 

due; 

and 

30. Grant such other and further relief as may be just and proper. 

ALBERTOR. GONZALEZ 
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BY: 

Attorney General 

Wanl Kim 
Assistant Attorney General 
Civil Rights Division 

DAVID 1 PALMER 
Chief, Employment Litigation Section 

sf Clare Geller 
ONDRA Y HARRIS 
Deputy Chief 
CLARE GELLER' 
VICTOR QUANTANILLA 
Attorneys 
U.S. Department of Justice 
Civil Rights Division . 
Employment Litigation Section 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Patrick Henry Building, Room 4926 
Washington, DC 20530 
Telephone: (202) 353-1817 

. Facsimile: (202) 514-1005 



Civil 
Case Assignment 

Case number 2:06CV·225 

Assigned: Senior Judge William O. Bertelsman 
Judge Code: 4307 

Assigned on 12/21/2006 

http://156.125.6.242/cgi-binJCaseAssign/CVCApl 

·,u, 

12/2112006 

--- -,--~-.--.---------
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

On the 21st day of December 20Q.6, I electronically filed this document through the ECF 
system, which will send a notice of electronic filing to Steven 1 Franzen, Esquire and I mailed 
Plaintiff Sean P. Donelan's Complaint and a Request for Waiver of Service of Summons and the 
notice of electronic filing to: 

Steven lFranzen, Esquire 
319 York Street 

Newport,. KY 41071 

BY: 

sf Clare Geller 
CLARE GELLER 
Attorney 
U.S. Department of Justice 
Civil Rights Division 
Employment Litigation Section 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Patrick Henry Building, Room 4926 
Washington, DC 20530 
Telephone: (202) 353-1817 
Facsimile: (202) 514-1005 


